IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 28 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

SID/ WHITE

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES B. MASSEY,

Petitioner,

versus

S.CT. CASE NO. 79,211

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAOLO G. ANNINO
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0379166
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 1989, the State in Volusia County, Circuit Court Case No. 89-4200, filed an Information charging Petitioner, Mr. James Massey, with Count I, Burglary of a Dwelling, in violation of Section 810.02(3), Florida Statutes (1989); and with Count 11, Grand Theft of the Third-Degree, in violation of Section 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1989). The State alleged that on October 31, 1988 property was unlawfully taken from the victim, Mr. Richard Pazmino. (R496)

At the January 4, 1990 arraignment, Mr. Massey was appointed an Assistant Public Defender, and demanded speedy trial. (R6-7)

At the January 29, 1990 pretrial hearing, Mr. Massey, pro se, moved to dismiss the Volusia County, Count 11, Grand Theft, based on the allegation that the victim and property were identical to the victim and property which he was charged for in Orange County. He argued that the State is barred from raising this count because the State agreed to drop this charge in a plea agreement in Orange County. (R79-82) See Appendix B. The trial court found that Mr. Massey was not placed on jeopardy on the grand theft charge and denied his motion. (R82)

At the first day of trial, January 29, 1990, Mr. Kwilecki, Assistant Public Defender, moved to withdraw representation because he was not prepared for trial. (R7) Mr. Kwilecki informed the trial court that "the State has made a very good plea offer: that he plead to a misdemeanor, get one year probation that would be served after he gets out of jail and they'll

nolle pros everything else." (R7) Mr. Massey rejected the plea offer. (R10)

The trial court granted the Assistant Public Defender's Motion to Withdraw. (R16) The trial court stated: "If they are not ready to go to trial, then the only alternative, if you want a speedy trial, is for you to represent yourself." (R16) Mr. Massey reluctantly elected to represent himself. (R16)

During trial, when Mr. Massey was representing himself pro se, the State filed a "Notice of State's Intent to Sentence Defendant as a Habitual Felony Offender or Violent Habitual Felony Offender. At trial, the State never handed Mr. Massey a copy of the written Notice of Intent. (R87) The Certificate of Service of the Notice lists Mr. Kwilecki, Assistant Public Defender, who was not representing Mr. Massey during trial. (R506) Verbally, the State informed the trial court that it was filing notice seeking "habitual felony offender violations." (R87) The State never verbally informed the trial court that it was seeking Violent Habitual Felony Offender penalties. (R87)

During trial, Mr. Massey moved to revoke his waiver of counsel because he felt incompetent concerning technical evidentiary issues. (R231) The trial court denied his motion and held that a Sixth Amendment waiver is irrevocable during trial. (R232)

The jury found ME. Massey guilty of both counts: Burglary and Grand Theft. (R467)

For sentencing, the trial court appointed counsel for Mr.

Massey. (R472)

At the May 14, 1990 sentencing hearing, Mr. Massey's defense counsel objected that she did not receive written Notice of Intent to Habitualize. (R473)

At the end of the May 14, 1990 Sentencing Hearing, the trial court sentenced Mr. Massey as an Habitual Felony Offender.

(R494) Mr. Massey was sentenced to fifteen years in the Department of Corrections for Count I, Burglary, and to five years in the Department of Corrections for Count 11, Grand Theft, which Count II is to run consecutive to Count I. (R494) During the May 14, 1990 Sentencing Hearing, the State was seeking "habitual felony offender status." (R491) At the May 14, 1990 hearing, there was never a mention of Violent Habitual Offender status. (R472,474,475,491,494)

On May 15, 1990, the day after sentencing, the trial court issued sua sponte a written "Order Finding Defendant a Violent Habitual Felon pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 775.084 (1988). (R569)

Mr. Massey filed timely Notice of Appeal, and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Massey on his appeal. (R571)

On May 2, 1991, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its written Decision vacating Mr. Massey's sentences because of lack of a written Habitual Felony Offender notice.

On October 31, 1991, on Motion for Rehearing En Banc, the Fifth District Court of Appeal withdrew its prior opinion and

substituted the present Opinion which affirms Mr. Massey's convictions and sentences. (See Appendix A).

Mr. Massey is appealing this opinion to this Honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts, which were presented at trial, are not at issue on this appeal. In summary fashion, the central facts are the following: On October 31, 1989, Mr. Pazmino's house was burglarized in Volusia County. A camera and other personal items were taken. (R246-247) A neighbor of the Pazminos, Jan Collins, testified that she saw Mr. Massey in the vicinity of the burglarized house. (R149) In Orange County, in a room rented by Mr. Massey, several of the stolen items were discovered. (R270)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The State violated Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes, by failing to furnish written notice of intent to habitualize. In this case, there are two fundamental violations of the notice requirement: First, Mr. Massey never received written notice, and secondly, his defense counsel at the sentencing stage never received written notice. (R472) The Majority Opinion in the instant case is flawed for three reasons. Section 775.084(3)(b), clearly mandates written notice. This section reads in part: "Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney ... " Id. Secondly, the purpose of written notice is to guarantee that the defendant's due process rights are protected at the sentencing stage. Verbal notice is insufficient because in the real world, verbal notice is not actual notice. The easiest way to guarantee a defendant's due process rights to actual notice is to furnish written notice. And thirdly, the Majority Opinion is flawed because is conflicts with the well-reasoned decision in Edwards v. State, 576 So.2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), which held that the harmless error test does not apply to failure to provide written notice.

POINT 11: The trial court violated Mr. Massey's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. There are two separate violations: First, before jury selection, Mr. Massey did not voluntarily relinquish his right to counsel. And secondly, during trial, Mr. Massey requested counsel but his request was denied. Petitioner's

waiver of counsel was involuntary, because the trial court forced the Petitioner to choose between two constitutional rights: the right to counsel and the right to a speedy trial. (R16) case law is well-established that Sixth Amendment waiver is not voluntary if a defendant is placed in a "dilemma of constitutional magnitude." See Maynard v. Meachum, 545 F.2d 273, 278 (1st Cir. 1976). In the instant case, Petitioner was placed "in a dilemma of constitutional magnitude" because he was forced to choose between the right to counsel and the right to a speedy trial. (R16) In addition, the trial court erred in denying his request of counsel during trial. The trial court held that the waiver of counsel is not revokable during trial. (R232) With all due respect, the trial court misinterprets the waiver of a Sixth Amendment right to counsel. As a matter of law, this waiver is not an irrevocable decision. See Faretta v. State of California, 45 L.Ed.2d 562, 581, ftnte. 46 (1974).

POINT 111: Petitioner's due process rights were violated by the State reneging on the parties' plea agreement. The issue in this case is whether the State may enter a plea agreement in one case, in which the State dismisses the given Count in exchange for a guilty plea, and then after the defendant fulfills his part of the agreement, and spends time in prison, the State refiles the same charge in another judicial circuit against the same defendant. Mr. Massey contends that the State breached the Orange County plea agreement and requests specific performance, i.e. the

dismissal of the instant Volusia County Grand Theft charge and conviction.

POINT IV: The trial court erred in failing to have a <u>Richardson</u> hearing, when the State failed to disclose a so-called "lynch-pin" witness, At the first day of trial, after jury selection, the State informed the trial court that the State planned to have an additional witness, Miriam E. Lancaster. The State described Ms. Lancaster as a "lynch-pin" witness. (R87) Ms. Lancaster's name was not presented to the jury during jury selection and was not on the State's witness list. (R35,86) Mr. Massey brought this discovery violation to the Court's attention at the first day of trial, and before Ms. Lancaster's testimony, but the trial court failed to hold a <u>Richardson</u> hearing. In fact, the trial court never stated on the record whether Mr. Massey was prejudiced by this surprise witness. (R86)

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE STATE VIOLATED SECTION 775.084(3)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES, BY FAILING TO FURNISH WRITTEN NOTICE OF INTENT TO "HABITUALIZE".

In violation of Section 775.084(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1989), the notice requirement Section, the Petitioner, Mr.

Massey and his sentencing defense counsel never received written notice of intent to seek habitual offender status. Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes, reads:

(b) Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

<u>Id</u>. (Emphasis added).

This provision uses the non-discretionary word, "shall". It mandates that both the defendant and his attorney receive written notice.

In this case, there are two fundamental violations of the notice requirement: first, Mr. Massey never received written notice, and secondly his defense counsel at the sentencing stage never received written notice. (R472) The first violation was due to the unpreparedness of the Assistant State Attorney at the trial stage. On the morning of January 29, 1990, prior to jury selection, the trial court granted the Assistant Public Defender's motion to withdraw his representation of Mr. Massey. (R21) As of the start of jury selection on January 29, 1990, Mr. Massey represented himself pro se. (R28) On January 31, 1990,

during trial, the State filed a "Notice of State's Intent to Sentence Defendant as an Habitual Felony Offender or Violent Habitual Felony Offender." (R87,506) The certificate of service on this notice reads that a copy "has been furnished to Paul Kwilecki, Assistant Public Defender". (R506)

The fatal flaw of this notice is that Mr. Kwilecki did not represent Mr. Massey on January 31, 1990. The certificate of service should have cited Mr. Massey, as pro se defendant. This notice was filed in open court, but the State failed to hand a copy to Mr. Massey. The State's excuse for not providing Mr. Massey a copy was "I have not had a chance to get it copied, though Judge." (R87) It is important to point out that the State knew that the Assistant Public Defender, Mr. Kwilecki, no longer represented Mr. Massey. The State had the responsibility to furnish written notice to Mr. Massey, and the State failed to furnish such notice. In short, the pro se defendant never received written notice.

The second fundamental violation of this notice requirement occurred at the May 14, 1990 sentencing hearing. For the sentencing stage, the trial court appointed the Public Defender's Office to represent Mr. Massey. (R472) At this hearing, Assistant Public Defender, Ms. Radtke, objected that she did not receive notice of intent to habitualize. (R473) She stated:

"As defense counsel, I don't have a copy of that notice in my file." (R473) The statutory notice requirement is clear:

"Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney

... Section 775.084(3)(b). The State failed to furnish Ms.

Radtke with notice. In summary, the State failed not only to give written notice to the Petitioner but also to his attorney at the sentencing stage.

This Honorable Court should adopt the well-reasoned Dissent in the instant case, <u>Massev v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 336 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). <u>See Appendix A.</u> The Dissent is faithful to the intent of the lawmakers, which intent mandates written notice. The Dissent stated:

I do not consider it my function as a judge, under the guise of judicial interpretation, to rewrite a statute which is clear on its face and has been interpreted by several decisions based upon its plain and clear meaning to require advance written notice, without which any habitual offender sentence imposed is illegal. I cannot say that this interpretation is unreasonable. To require the State to give this requisite notice does not place any undue burden upon it. are now to allow non-written notice to suffice, we are opening the door to a requirement of deciding on a case-by-case basis whether non-written notice is sufficient. If the legislature desires such a result, it should amend the statute and delete the word "written".

Id. at 339.

In contrast, the Majority opinion in the instant case holds that the failure to furnish written notice is a mere "procedural defect", a mere technicality. <u>Id</u>. at 337, ftnte. 5.

The Majority opinion is flawed for three reasons. First, the statute says the defendant is to receive "written" notice.

It is the role of the courts in our political community to follow the plain meaning of the law. If the Legislature says that the

notice to the defendant is to be in writing, then it is to be in writing. The courts have no authority to omit such an essential requirement. Perhaps, the lawmakers in their practical wisdom realized what an evidentiary mess it would be to prove actual notice, if the notice was not in writing. Therefore, to avoid that legal beehive, the lawmakers required written notice to the defendant and his counsel.

Secondly, the purpose of written notice is to guarantee that the defendant's due process rights are protected at the sentencing stage. Verbal notice is insufficient, because most criminal defendants will miss the point: verbal notice will go over their heads. It will be just more legal gobbledygook. In the real world, verbal notice is not actual notice. The easiest way to guarantee a defendant's due process rights to actual notice is to furnish written notice. This is no Herculean burden on the State. Instead of placing only defense counsel's name on the certificate of service, the State should place the defendant's name and make an extra copy of the notice. In the vast majority of cases, the State provides defendants with written notice.

Written notice is a precondition to the application of the Habitual Felony Offender Statute. <u>See</u> Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). The written notice takes the particular case out of the Sentencing Guidelines and into the Habitual Felony Offender Statute, which provides harsher penalties and allows greater disparity of sentencing. The key that unlocks the door to the Habitual Felony Offender Statute is written notice.

The lawmakers saw that on the other side of this door exists harsher penalties and disparity in sentencing. Therefore, the lawmakers mandated written notice, which protects a defendant from the inherent ambiguity of verbal notice.

And thirdly, the majority opinion is flawed because it conflicts with the well-reasoned decision in Edwards v. State, 576 So.2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The majority in the instant case held that harmless error analysis applies if a defendant failed to receive written notice, but received record notice. The Edwards court explicitly held that the harmless error test does not apply to the failure to provide written notice, because such a omission makes the sentence illegal. In Edwards, the Fourth District Court of Appeal stated:

If no advance written notice is provided, a sentence as an habitual offender is illegal. Grubbs v. State, 412 So.2d 27 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). See also Nunziata v. State, 561 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (no advance written

The "inherent ambiguity of verbal notice" is revealed in this very case. During trial, the State filed a written notice with the trial court which notice reads: "Notice of State's Intent to Sentence Defendant as an Habitual Felony Offender or Violent Habitual Felony Offender." (R506) However, verbally, the State told the trial court the following: "And, your Honor, at this time I'm going to file notice of the State's intent to seek habitual felony offender violations against the defendant, upon **conviction."** (R87) The State never verbally <u>stated</u> it was seeking <u>Violent</u> habitual felony status. When Mr. Massey wrote to the trial court, as quoted in the Majority Decision, Mr. Massey was under the impression that the State was seeking Habitual Felony status, not Violent Habitual Felony status. Also, throughout the May 14, 1990 Sentencing Hearing, Mr. Massey believed that the State was seeking Habitual Felony status, not Violent Habitual Felony status. (R472,474,475,491,494,560,562) However, on May 15, 1990, the trial court issued a written order finding Mr. Massey to be a Violent Habitual Felon. (8569)

notice of state's intent to seek enhancement of sentence in accordance with statute, any subsequent habitual offender enhancement is illegal; lack of harm to defendant not the test).

The state's contention that appellant was not surprised by the classification is irrelevant because lack of harm to the defendant is not the test used. Nunziata, 561 So.2d at 1331; see also Sweat v. State, 570 So.2d 1111 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (failure to serve advance written notice of state's intent to seek enhanced sentencing constitutes reversible error; defendant need not demonstrate harm). (Emphasis in original). U. at 442

As <u>Edwards</u> makes clear, harmless error analysis does not apply to illegal sentences. <u>But</u>, <u>see Judse v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D835 (Fla. 2d DCA March 20, 1992).² In summary, based on the Dissenting Opinion in the instant case and the above arguments, Mr. Massey requests that this Honorable Court find that the written notice requirement is a mandatory precondition for sentencing under the habitual felony offender statute.

In specific, Mr. Massey requests that this Honorable Court remand this case for resentencing under the Sentencing Guidelines. —, Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990). By failing to provide proper notice, the State in the case at bar failed to trigger the habitual offender statute. As argued,

The <u>Judse</u> court held that failure to furnish written notice to a defendant makes the sentence "erroneous" or "unlawful" but not "illegal" for purposes of Rule 3.800(a) review. <u>Id</u>. ftnte. 1. In <u>Judge</u>, the defendant's attorney received written notice, but the defendant did not receive written notice. The <u>Judse</u> court did not face the issue in the case at bar of a pro se defendant who did not receive written notice and who raises this issue on direct appeal.

proper notice is a prerequisite for sentencing under the habitual offender statute. In the instant case, the State failed to provide proper notice. Therefore, the May 14, 1990 Sentencing Hearing was in reality a Sentencing Guidelines Hearing, and the trial court's sentence a departure sentence without written reasons. Pope applies to the instant case, because in reality Mr. Massey's sentence was a departure sentence. In conclusion, based on Pope, Mr. Massey requests to be resentenced pursuant to the Sentencing Guidelines. But, See, Johnson v. State, 16 F.L.W. D810 (Fla. 2d DCA March 23, 1991).

The <u>Johnson</u> court held "<u>Pope</u> inapplicable to this situation". <u>Id</u>. at D811. The <u>Johnson</u> decision is distinguishable, because in <u>Johnson</u> the defendant pled and stipulated to an habitual offender sentence. In contrast, in this case, Mr. Massey never stipulated to an habitual offender sentence.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. MASSEY'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

The trial court violated Mr. Massey's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. There were two separate violations: first, before jury selection, Mr. Massey did not voluntarily relinquish his right to counsel. And secondly, during trial, Mr. Massey requested counsel but his request was denied.

Mr. Massey did not voluntarily waive his right to counsel.

In Faretta v. State of California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525
(1975), the United States Supreme Court held that "a defendant in a state criminal trial has a constitutional right to proceed without counsel when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to so do." Id. And in United States Ex Rel. Martinez v. Thomas, 526 F.2d 750, 754 (2d Cir. 1975), the Second Circuit stated:

We cannot escape the conclusion on this record that appellant was given no freedom of choice to decide whether he wished to defend himself. His choice, if choice it can be called, was based entirely on his bowing to the inevitable ...

Like the appellant in United States Ex Rel Martinez, the Petitioner in this case had no choice but to bow to the "inevitable".

Id.

Petitioner's waiver of counsel was involuntary, because the trial court forced the Petitioner to choose between two constitutional rights: the right to counsel and the right to a speedy trial. (R16) At arraignment, the Petitioner and the Public Defender's Office requested speedy trial. (R7,16) At the jury

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