IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JAMES B. MASSEY,

Petitioner,

v.

**

CASE NO. 79,211

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the Fifth Distrcit Court of Appeal

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BONNIE JEAN PARRISH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #768870 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

4

POINT I: This issue is procedurally barred from appellate review as there was no objection to service of the notice of the State's intent to have petitioner sentenced as a habitual If this issue has been preserved, petitioner received offender. sufficient notice of the state's intent to have petitioner sentenced as an habitual offender, as the Fifth District Court of Petitioner had record notice that the state was Appeal held. seeking an enhanced sentence. Petitioner wrote a letter to the trial judge in which he acknowledge that he may be sentenced as a habitual offender. A submission was made by petitioner to the trial judge as to why petitioner should not be habitualized. Finally, any error was harmless as petitioner had actual and record notice of the state's intent to have petitioner sentenced as an habitual offender.

<u>POINT 11</u>: Petitioner voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to counsel. Petitioner was advised of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. The trial judge found petitioner competent to decide to represent himself, that he was aware of the benefits of having an attorney and the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and that he knowingly and intelligently chose to represent himself. Petitioner did not have to choose between the right to counsel and the right to speedy trial, **as** petitioner's speedy trial time was not about to expire. Petitioner was not entitled to co-counsel, nor did the trial judge err in refusing to appoint new counsel after the trial had already begun.

- 6 -

POINT III: Petitioner was properly charged and convicted of burglary of a dwelling and grant theft third degree. Although petitioner had been charged with grand theft in Orange County, pursuant to a plea agreement the state nolle prossed that charge. As petitioner did not *go* to trial on that charge and was neither convicted or acquitted of that charge, there is no double jeopardy violation. The state attorney of one judicial circuit cannot bind the state attorney of another judicial circuit. If petitioner feels that the Orange County prosecutor did not fulfill his part of the bargain, then petitioner should move to withdraw his plea in the Orange County case. Petitioner is barred from arguing due process and collateral estoppel as it was not argued below.

. .

POINT IV: This issue has not been preserved for appellate review as no objection was made when the state announced it had just learned of an additional witness. Also, the record is insufficient to show a discovery violation as there is only one discovery document contained in the record on appeal. If this issue has been preserved, it was not necessary to hold a <u>Richardson</u> hearing, although one was held, as there was no discovery violation. The state announced there was an additional witness when they learned of her. Furthermore, petitioner was already aware of this witness, as she was his previous landlord and he had possession of documents containing her name, including a deposition. The inquiry which was had was sufficient when the record is viewed as a whole. Finally, any error was harmless as petitioner was aware of the witness.

- 7 -

ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>

PETITIONER RECEIVED SUFFICIENT NOTICE REGARDING THE **STATE'S** INTENT TO HAVE PETITIONER SENTENCED **AS** AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER.

On January 31, 1990, the state, in open court, filed notice of its intent to have petitioner sentenced **as** an habitual felony offender (R 87, 506). <u>Massey v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 336 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). It is apparent that the notice had been prepared earlier, **as** the certificate of service had petitioner's previous attorney's name on it (R 506). <u>Id</u>. Petitioner represented himself at trial (R 7, 16, 19, 21). <u>Id</u>. The assistant state attorney, at the time of filing, stated that **she** had not yet made a copy of the notice (R 87). <u>Id</u>. There was no objection from petitioner (R 87). <u>Id</u>. at n. 2.

<u>,</u>

After the jury returned guilty verdicts on each count as charged, the trial judge stated:

I believe the state is filing notice of intent to habitualize, so we will need a hearing and a sentencing date, Madam Clerk, when you have the opportunity to provide such.

(R 468). Id. at 337. On May 7, 1990, petitioner wrote the trial judge a letter (R 555). Id. In the letter, petitioner wrote:

*

On May 14, 1990 this Defendant will come before the Court for a hearing to be sentenced **as** a Habitual Offender.

*

– a –

(R 555). <u>Id</u>.

÷.

2

۰. ۲

On May 14, 1990, petitioner's sentencing hearing was held (R 471-494). Id. Petitioner was represented by counsel. <u>Id</u>. It was reiterated that the state had filed its notice of intent to habitualize (R 472). <u>Id</u>. Defense counsel objected, **as** she did not have a copy of the notice in her file (R 472-473). <u>Id</u>. The state responded that there was a copy in the court filed and that the notice was filed on January 31, 1990 (R 473). The trial judge then stated:

> Miss Radtke, I don't know how many times you think that you need to be noticed. As far as I know, the statute only requires that the defendant be noticed on the State's intent which was filed on the 31st of January, 1990. Both you and the office of the public defender and Mr. Massey were well aware of the fact that the state was going to seek habitual offender status.

(Emphasis added) (R 473). Id. at n. 3. While petitioner had counsel at the sentencing hearing, petitioner himself presented argument to the court **as** to why he should not be sentenced as a habitual offender (R 474-475, 475-490). Petitioner and his attorney then requested that petitioner be sentenced within the guidelines (R 490). Petitioner was found to be a habitual offender and was sentenced as such (R 494).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal on rehearing en banc affirmed petitioner's judgment and sentence. The appellate court fopund that petitioner had actual notice of the state's intent to seek habitual offender sentencing. The appellate court thereby found that the lack of written notice was harmless in petitioner's case. Massey, supra. Prior to addressing the merits of the instant claim, respondent asserts that petitioner is procedurally barred from raising the instant claim on appeal. No objection regarding the service of that notice was made when the notice of the state's intent to have petitioner sentenced as an habitual offender was filed in open court (R 87). It was announced in open court that the state was filing notice of its intent to have petitioner habitualized. Petitioner was present and said nothing (R 87). To preserve an issue for appellate review, a contemporaneous specific objection must be made at trial. <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). As a specific contemporaneous objection was not made in the instant case, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review. <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 27 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

Proceeding to the merits of the instant claim, assuming solely for the purpose of argument that it has been preserved, respondent asserts that petitioner is entitled to no relief. Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), provides:

- 2

Written notice shall be served on the defendant and his attorney a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea or prior to the imposition of sentence so as to allow the preparation of a submission on behalf of the defendant.

The notice requirement is met when the notice has been served on a defendant's attorney. <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 289, 291 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); <u>Valicenti v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 431, 432 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). It is likewise met where there is notice on the record or the defendant has actual notice. <u>Bradford v.</u> State, 567 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Rowe v. State, 574
So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Carter v. State, 17 F.L.W. 1310
(Fla. 1st DCA May 15, 1992); Bogush v. State, 17 F.L.W. 1068
(Fla. 2d DCA April 22, 1992). The sole purpose of the notice
requirement is to "allow the preparation of a submission on
behalf of the defendant." §775.084(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989);
Roberts, supra.

А

д,

Respondent asserts that the notice petitioner was given was sufficient under the statute. It was announced in open court that the state was filing notice of intent to have petitioner sentenced **as** a habitual offender (R 878). The notice itself was filed in open court on January 31, 1990 (R 506). At the end of the trial, after petitioner was found guilty as charged, the trial judge announced that a hearing and sentencing date would be necessary **as** the state filed its notice of intent to habitualize (R 468). On May 7, 1990, petitioner wrote the trial judge **a letter** in which he acknowledged the fact that he was facing being sentenced **as** a habitual offender (R 555). A response was prepared and made on petitioner's behalf by both petitioner and his attorney, thus fulfilling the purpose of **§**775.084(3)(b) (R 474-490).

The purpose of §775.084(3)(b) is obviously to inform the defendant that the state is seeking to have the defendant's sentence enhanced due to his prior record. Also, as previously stated, notice allows for the preparation of a submission on the defendant's behalf in response to that notice. Respondent submits that an additional implicit purpose of the notice

- 11 -

requirement is that the defendant be informed that the state is seeking to have his sentence enhanced. Respondent submits that where the purpose of the statute **has** been fulfilled, the notice requirement has likewise been fulfilled. Here, the purpose of §775.084(3)(b) was met: a submission was prepared and made on petitioner's behalf (R 474-475, 475-490) and petitioner knew the state was seeking to have him sentenced as **a** habitual offender (R 555). The petitioner himself responded to the notice as to why he should not be habktualized (R 475-490).

٠

. 1

Furthermore, respondent asserts that where the notice requirement has been fulfilled, even though the written notice was mistakenly or inadvertently not served, the failure to serve written notice is not per <u>se</u> reversible error **as** has been previously held. See also Nunziata v. State, 561 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); <u>Sweat v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1111 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). While there may be cases where reversible error occurs for failure to serve written notice, respondent asserts that there likewise are cases, such as the instant case, where the lack of service does not rise to the level of fundamental reversible error.² Respondent asserts that in such cases the harmless error analysis is properly applied. <u>Bradford v. State</u>,

 $^{^2}$ Once error has been established, the issue then becomes whether the lack of notice to the defendant is fundamental error which would justify reversal. Cf. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1126 (Fla. 1981). Fundamental error has been defined as error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action. Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). Respondent asserts that where a defendant has actual or record notice the error does not rise to the level of fundamental error, the error does not go to the foundation of a defendant's sentence.

567 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 551 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>see also</u>, <u>State v. Diguilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); §59.041, Fla. Stat. (1989)(no judgment shall be set aside or reversed for error as to any matter of pleading or procedure unless after examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice); 8924.33, Fla. Stat. (1989)(for reversible error to have occurred, the error complained of had to have injuriously affected the substantial rights of the defendant; such affect shall not be presumed).

The failure to comply with the statutory notice requirement of 90.404(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989), has been found to be harmless where the defendant has actual notice. Garcia v. State, 521 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Taylor v. State, 436 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Larkin v. State, 474 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), vacated in part on other grounds, 488 So.2d 157 (Fla. Also, harmless error has been applied to sentencing 1986). For example, where there is no scoresheet at the errors. sentencing hearing but the parties concerned know what the defendant's recommended guidelines sentence is, the error has been found to be harmless. Walker v. State, 521 So.2d 121 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Burns v. State, 513 So.2d 165 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Whistin v. State, 500 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

. 7

· . •

Technical noncompliance with a rule of procedure is permissible if there is not harm to the defendant. <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 288, 290 (Fla. 1981)(the rules of criminal procedure are not intended to furnished a procedural device to escape justice)

- 13 -

Tucker v. State, 559 So.2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1990)(emphasis added).

Respondent asserts that lack of harm or harmless error is properly applied where a defendant has actual or record notice of the state's intent to seek enhanced sentencing pursuant to 3775.084. Where a defendant, such as petitioner, has actual notice, it cannot be said that the failure to serve written notice on that defendant goes to the foundation of that Neither can it be said that lack of defendant's sentence. written notice where a defendant has knowledge of the state's intent results in a miscarriage of justice or injuriously affects the substantial rights of the defendant. Here, petitioner had record notice of the state's intent (R 878, 468, 506); petitioner likewise had actual knowledge that the state was seeking to have him sentenced as a habitual offender (R 555). Any error in failing to serve the written notice on petitioner was harmless. Petitioner was not prejudiced, nor were his substantial rights injuriously affected. Lack of harm or harmless error is properly applied in the instant case.

_ **1**

• - 1

Respondent asserts that a per se rule requiring reversal where no written notice is given without examining the facts of each individual case would be in appropriate. By reversing the appellate court's decision and vacating petitioner's sentence **as** a habitual violent felony offender for lack of notice, even though petitioner had actual and record notice and had personal knowledge of the state's intent to seek enhanced sentencing, this court would be elevating form to a new height over substance. As stated above, the purpose of §775.084(3)(b) is

- 14 -

two-fold: to allow the preparation of a submission on the defendant's behalf and to inform the defendant that the state is seeking an enhanced sentence for the defendant. By finding that per se reversible error occurs when there is no written notice served, this court would be finding that the notice requirement is of paramount importance to the purpose of the notice requirement. Respondent asserts that such a finding places the importance on the wrong portion of §775.084(3)(b). Written notice is required to inform the defendant that an enhanced sentence is being sought and to give the defendant an opportunity to inform the judge as to why he should not be sentenced **as** a habitual offender. Respondent asserts that when that purpose is met, the notice requirement is likewise met and satisfied.

The instant case shows how a defendant, who has full knowledge that he is going to be sentenced under the habitual offender statute and who is fully prepared to present his case against habitual offender treatment, has attempted to use a procedural notice requirement to invalidate his sentence. It surely could not have been the legislature's intent to allow a defendant to invalidate his sentence on such a technical ground, where the defendant has full knowledge of the state's intent. *See* <u>Roberts</u>, <u>supra</u> ("We do not conclude that the legislature intended to permit a defendant to avoid the application of the statute on the technical grounds raised here"); <u>see also</u>, <u>Tucker</u>, <u>supra</u> ("Technical noncompliance with a rule of procedure is permissible if there is no harm to the defendant").

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